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          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Good morning,

          3  everyone. My name is Kendall Stewart, and I am the

          4  Chairman of the New York City Council's Committee on

          5  Immigration. I would like to thank you all for

          6  coming today. The issue of immigration is often a

          7  complex one, beyond already complicated matters of

          8  finance, of travel arrangements, of the immediate

          9  needs to meet standards, effects and why to get from

         10  A to B. Immigration forces us to look carefully at

         11  the ways we identify ourselves and those who are

         12  important to us.

         13                 We must examine and define our

         14  nationalities, our ethnicities and our concept to

         15  family. We must also realize that there are subtle

         16  shadings among those definitions, and that the

         17  definitions we assign in this Chamber may be

         18  discordant with the definitions arrived by people

         19  elsewhere in New York State, in Washington or

         20  overseas.

         21                 Nevertheless, we must try to do what

         22  is right. Today we will look at the issues of

         23  American immigration law as it relates to same sex

         24  partners in committed relationships.

         25                 Once the non-citizen member of the
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          2  same sex by national capital exhausts all on any

          3  other independent qualifications for being in this

          4  country, or once the non-citizen work visa or

          5  student visa or any other kind of visa expires under

          6  the federal law, that non-citizen no longer has any

          7  right to remain with his or her partner.

          8                 In other words, a non-citizen having

          9  arrived in this country on a temporary student work,

         10  student work or other visa, and having met an

         11  American citizen, may fall in love with the citizen,

         12  they spend any number of weeks, months, or years

         13  cohabitating, may share family joys and sorrows and

         14  they take part in their religious or even state

         15  ceremony of union, the couple may even raise

         16  children together, and, yet, when this non-citizen

         17  visa expires, he or she has no legal claim to have a

         18  spouse, to have real family, to serve as an anchor

         19  to this country's and to the life the two have

         20  established together.

         21                 For heterosexual couples, the

         22  situation is very different. Married heterosexual by

         23  national couples, by validity of their federal

         24  recognized family partnership, find a non-citizen

         25  member of the couple granted strong immigration
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          2  priority status intended to preserve this unit and

          3  contribute towards the United States stated

          4  immigration policy interest is family unification.

          5                 Further, in the 1996 federal Defense

          6  of Marriage Act further complicated the picture for

          7  same-sex couples. After its passage, even same sex

          8  couples receiving a legitimate marriage license in

          9  the state permitting same-sex marriage will receive

         10  no benefit or recognition under federal law in terms

         11  of immigration priorities.

         12                 There may be as many as 40,000

         13  binational same-sex couples living in the United

         14  States today. Worldwide progressive democracies have

         15  consistently recognized same-sex partners' right to

         16  immigration priorities with heterosexual couples.

         17                 Even if in some cases those other

         18  countries do not recognize a same-sex right to

         19  marriage, advocates argued that United States should

         20  lead these democracies, which include Australia,

         21  Brazil, Canada, France, Germany, the Netherlands,

         22  South Africa, and the United Kingdom, rather than

         23  continuing to implement a regressive immigration

         24  policy that is inherently discriminatory.

         25                 United States representatives Jerrold
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          2  Nadler and Senator Patrick Leahy, have proposed the

          3  Uniting American Families Act, which will grant

          4  same-sex couples standing equal to heterosexual

          5  couples, in terms of immigration priority.

          6                 Today's hearing will explore the

          7  issue of immigration as it relates to same-sex

          8  couples, and a proposed resolution to call upon the

          9  United States Congress to pass Representative

         10  Nadler's and Senator Leahy's bill.

         11                 Again, I would like to thank you all

         12  for attending, and I would also like to welcome my

         13  colleagues here, who is Darlene Mealy and --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER PALMA: Annabel Palma.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- Council

         16  Member Palma.

         17                 Once again, thank you for coming, and

         18  we'll call our first witness today.

         19                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: We're calling

         20  Robert Gottheim.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If you would

         22  please identify yourself and then you may begin.

         23                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Is this on? Yes.

         24                 Good morning. My name is Robert

         25  Gottheim. I am Congressman Nadler's Director of
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          2  District Relations, and I'm going to be giving

          3  testimony on his behalf because he is in Washington.

          4  Congress is in session and he wasn't able to be here

          5  this morning. So, thank you very much.

          6                 Thank you, Chairman Stewart, and

          7  members of the Committee, for this opportunity to

          8  provide testimony at the Committee on Immigration's

          9  hearing on Resolution No. 355, supporting my

         10  legislation HR 3006, the Uniting American Families

         11  Act.

         12                 One of the fundamental principles of

         13  immigration law and policy is the notion of family

         14  unification, which allows US citizens and legal

         15  permanent residents to sponsor their spouses and

         16  other family members for immigration purposes.

         17                 Unfortunately, same-sex couples, who

         18  are committed to spending their lives together are

         19  not recognized as families under current US

         20  Immigration Law. Because of this unjust and inhumane

         21  policy, thousands of lesbian and gay binational

         22  couples are kept apart, or American citizens are

         23  forced to live in exile or live in fear that their

         24  undocumented foreign partners will be torn them for

         25  deportation.
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          2                 In 2001, I first introduced

          3  legislation to try to correct this terrible

          4  injustice.

          5                 Renamed the Uniting Americas Families

          6  Act last yea HR3006 will apply the same standards to

          7  same-sex couples that the US applies to opposite-sex

          8  couples seeking to bring a foreign partner into the

          9  country.

         10                 UAFA, which is Uniting American

         11  Families Act, would amend the Immigration and

         12  Nationality Act to unite American families by

         13  allowing United States citizens and lawful permanent

         14  residents to sponsor their permanent partners for

         15  residency in the United States.

         16                 The Uniting American Families Act

         17  would add the category of "permanent partner" to the

         18  classes of family members entitled to sponsor a

         19  foreign national for U.S. Immigration.

         20                 At the moment, 114 members of the

         21  house are co-sponsoring the bill, including three

         22  republicans. The bad news is that we will lose one

         23  of the republican sponsors because Jim Colby of

         24  Arizona is not seeking re-election. The good news is

         25  that we have a very good chance of picking up that
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          2  seat this November.

          3                 Tragically, the injustices faced by

          4  binational same-sex couples have become even more

          5  acute as more western democracies have allowed

          6  same-sex marriages or established domestic

          7  partnership or civil union arrangements.

          8                 Under our current immigration system,

          9  it is not in a binational same-sex couple's best

         10  interest to marry or formally register their

         11  relationships here or abroad, as this action might

         12  make it even more difficult for the foreign national

         13  to obtain a visa to this country.

         14                 Throughout my career, both in

         15  Washington and in Albany, I have considered it one

         16  of my responsibilities to join in the struggle for

         17  the basic civil rights of the nation's LGBT

         18  community.

         19                 The Uniting American Families Act

         20  helps to address one of the many areas where unfair

         21  and unequal treatment creates undue hardship for gay

         22  and lesbian US citizens.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: This bill was

         25  introduced first in 2001 you say?
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          2                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That's correct. It was

          3  called the"Permanent Partnering Immigration Bill" at

          4  that time, and as they do in Washington, they change

          5  the names different times to make it sound better.

          6                 As everyone knows, the Patriot Act

          7  sounds like a great bill, when we all know it isn't,

          8  but it has a great name.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes.

         10                 MR. GOTTHEIM: This one has a good

         11  name, and it's a good bill.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right. I would

         13  like to know if this bill is passed, would there be

         14  a parity as to how -- what category would this be

         15  in, in terms of whether the first preference, second

         16  preference, as compared with the heterosexual?

         17                 MR. GOTTHEIM: It would be on par.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: It would be on

         19  par.

         20                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That's right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: So, you're

         22  saying that it would be the same as if someone

         23  married heterosexually?

         24                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Then how do we

                                                            11

          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  differentiate from the fact that there might be two

          3  sisters that's living together, for as maybe as

          4  family in a home they may not be sexually active,

          5  but they're living together. One might be a citizen,

          6  or even have a Green Card, and if that sister is a

          7  sponsor, that other sister, it takes them ten years.

          8  It means then in terms of this bill, they will have

          9  no benefit from this bill.

         10                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I'm trying to follow

         11  you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, what I'm

         13  saying is that basically, normally in terms of

         14  relationship, they're two sisters.

         15                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Correct.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And because

         17  they're sisters and not partners --

         18                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Partners.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: -- There is no

         20  real benefit from this bill.

         21                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And I thought

         23  that this bill would have had something to say,

         24  well, listen, if there is a couple that's living,

         25  sharing the benefits in a home for years, then there
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          2  should be something within this bill to at least

          3  enhance that.

          4                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Well, the bill, if you

          5  have two people who are in a committed relationship

          6  and they are sharing, you know, if they are in a

          7  committed relationship, this would allow them, and

          8  if one is a US citizen and one is not, it would

          9  allow them to have the benefit to, both for overseas

         10  and for here too, if that's what you're asking. Are

         11  you saying --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'm talking

         13  about rights here in this country.

         14                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Right here in the

         15  United States.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In the United

         17  States.

         18                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Okay.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: What basically

         20  happens is this: If there is -- let's say a sister

         21  is taking care of a sister who might be not in a

         22  situation to work, or might be sick, whatever the

         23  problem is, but that sister who is taking care of

         24  the sick person may not be documented, but the

         25  sister who is here and sick and documented cannot
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          2  really help that person. It takes over ten years.

          3                 So, I'm trying to see if there is a

          4  benefit with this bill, because the only thing that

          5  they're not doing, that is different from a couple

          6  or a partner, is that they may not be sexually

          7  active.

          8                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Well --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In that respect.

         10                 MR. GOTTHEIM: This bill doesn't look

         11  to someone -- there is no test if someone is

         12  sexually active.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, they may

         14  be partners. So, how could we remedy this, in terms

         15  of make it some parity?

         16                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That's a good question.

         17                 The bill was written, and the thought

         18  was to give this benefit to people who are partners

         19  who are in a committed relationship that benefit.

         20                 Whether we -- I'm sure that the

         21  Congressman, he feels our immigration laws are too

         22  draconian as they are, and we want to, you know,

         23  it's meant to keep people out and not as welcoming

         24  as we once were. So, what you are talking about is

         25  something that we need to take a look at, and maybe
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          2  this bill could certainly -- I don't know

          3  necessarily maybe this bill, another bill, you know,

          4  some other type of draft of legislation that we

          5  could look at, address the issue that you're

          6  bringing up, because that's a valid issue that

          7  you're bringing up.

          8                 I mean the Congressman feels very

          9  strongly that our laws should be more welcoming. We

         10  should be a more welcoming country like we were, and

         11  maybe we can draft some legislation to address your

         12  concerns.

         13                 This bill was drafted for this

         14  purpose, but you bring up a valid point.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: In terms of this

         16  bill, what will determine a legal partner for the

         17  purpose of this bill? What will determine legal

         18  partner?

         19                 MR. GOTTHEIM: What will determine it

         20  is --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Because we know

         22  in some states you can get married, in some states,

         23  in other states you can't, this sort of thing. What

         24  will determine --

         25                 MR. GOTTHEIM: The way the bill is
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          2  drafted, and I'm sorry I didn't bring a copy of this

          3  bill with me, but the way the language is, is if

          4  somebody really needs to declare themselves -- under

          5  Uniting American Families Act, a person may qualify

          6  as a permanent partner or US citizen or legal

          7  permanent resident, if they are at least 18 years of

          8  age, in an intimate relationship with the sponsoring

          9  adult, US citizen or legal permanent resident, in

         10  which both parties intend a life-long commitment,

         11  financially independent with that person, not

         12  married or in a permanent partnership with any other

         13  person, unable to contact with that person a

         14  marriage that is recognized under INA. And INA is

         15  Immigration Nationality Act.

         16                 So, basically the means test is you

         17  don't need to have a marriage certificate from

         18  another country, you don't need to have a civil

         19  union. Basically you need to be 18. You need to be

         20  in a relationship, in an intimate relationship and

         21  have a lifelong commitment, independent, financially

         22  independent, and not married to anybody else. So, it

         23  doesn't set up a very difficult legal definition. It

         24  sets up what many of us would assume is marriage or

         25  commitment to another individual.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I just feel that

          4  there should be some sort of declaratory document

          5  that should be made because anybody could say that

          6  they're in a relationship, and we have this problem

          7  with even marriages right now in terms of

          8  immigration, where it's used for, just for that

          9  purpose. So, I'm saying there ought to be some sort

         10  of a declaratory document to say, well, listen, this

         11  is my legal partner, or register saying where we can

         12  register saying this is my legal partner.

         13                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Yes. It was purposely

         14  written not to get into that. If someone is in a

         15  lifelong commitment and they're stating that, we

         16  don't want to make INS be the judge of that. It is

         17  we want to be more welcoming and open, and it was

         18  specifically written to be broader. That's the

         19  purpose behind it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We have been

         21  joined by my colleague Charles Barron, Council

         22  Member Charles Barron. I don't know if he has a

         23  question.

         24                 Council Member, do you have any

         25  questions?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Good morning. I

          3  just wanted to know, out of the 4,000 same-sex

          4  binational couples not recognized, what percentage

          5  would be affected by the passing of this bill?

          6                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I don't have those

          7  figures. I would be more than happy to get those

          8  figures and forward that on to you. I don't have the

          9  exact figures on that.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay. Are there

         11  any other measures that could be urged to protect

         12  their family, other than that?

         13                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Other than? I mean, I

         14  don't understand.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: What other

         16  measures?

         17                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Other measures to

         18  protect -- we're trying to unite families together.

         19  You're referring to other measures such as Council

         20  Member Stewart, what he was referring to? Or you

         21  were talking about something entirely different? I

         22  don't understand what you're concerning protect

         23  their families?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Well, to bring

         25  the families together.
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          2                 MR. GOTTHEIM: To bring the families

          3  together. Are there other measures to bring the

          4  families --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Yes, what other

          6  measures are you working on to unite the families?

          7                 MR. GOTTHEIM: This is the measure

          8  that the Congressman identified as to amend -- I

          9  mean, if we were to pass -- right now the

         10  Immigration Nationality Act doesn't, you know,

         11  doesn't allow this, and that's why we introduced the

         12  bill.

         13                 Other measures is, you know, if other

         14  states recognized, you know, a marriage between LGBT

         15  couples, that could be one way. Through the courts

         16  is another. But we identified a specific problem,

         17  and he saw a specific solution to it.

         18                 So, other than that, at the moment he

         19  does not. Just this bill.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Okay, thank

         21  you.

         22                 Are we adequately able to protect the

         23  human rights of the individuals while still

         24  combatting the fraud that plagues on the marriage

         25  system that is already in place, which a lot of
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          2  people are getting married for money. So, how can

          3  we, you know, combat that fraud? We try to work on

          4  it now, so how would we combat if people would try

          5  to have fraud (sic), would get marriage just to get

          6  into the country; could you answer that?

          7                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Well, again, I would

          8  state that the Congressman feels we should be a much

          9  more welcoming country, much more welcoming to

         10  immigrants. You know, if people want to come to this

         11  country and want to be legal and we have many

         12  illegal immigrants here, and, you know, what we need

         13  to do is, we're not concerned about fraud. You know,

         14  if people would use this as fraud, that's

         15  unfortunate, but we want not to create a barrier

         16  just to get the small percentage of people that may

         17  use this as fraud, we want to be welcoming to these

         18  couples and to these individuals, and not put over

         19  some harsh, you know, type of barrier where we make

         20  it difficult for them to attain the same rights that

         21  heterosexual couples have.

         22                 So, we want to be more inclusive. So,

         23  we're not concerned with the fraud issue that you

         24  state, because the Congressman feels that our

         25  immigration laws are too strict, and that --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: I understand

          3  that they're strict, but they're strict for a

          4  reason. And if we are deporting people because they

          5  are getting married and not a citizen and getting

          6  married to get citizenship, that's the fraud. And we

          7  are deporting people for that. So, now to say that

          8  it's not an issue, it is an issue. That's fraud.

          9  That's against the law. And we can't do it for some

         10  and not do it for others.

         11                 And I just ask, with us already doing

         12  it, USA is doing that now, deporting people, how can

         13  we combat that with same-sex marriage just as well,

         14  when if some just want to come over for citizenship?

         15                 I'm just saying we have to look at

         16  those issues just as well.

         17                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Okay.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: They both go

         19  hand-in-hand.

         20                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I understand they go

         21  hand-in-hand, but the more that we put barriers --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: It's an issue.

         23  Fraud is fraud.

         24                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I understand fraud is

         25  an issue, but the more we put barriers, the more we
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          2  make it difficult for people to come here and we're

          3  putting barriers that people who are same-sex

          4  couples from, you know, it's an additional hurdle

          5  which really is not right.

          6                 So, fraud is an issue --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Yes,

          8  heterosexual just as well. It's not discriminating.

          9                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Well, I understand

         10  that. But, you know, the first thing we need to do

         11  is we need to extend the same rights and privileges

         12  to same-sex couples that we have to heterosexual.

         13  And if there is fraud, we need to investigate that.

         14                 The same way, you know, people can

         15  look at, you know, when people are in a committed

         16  relationship, you know, you need to get affidavits

         17  from friends and different things like that, there

         18  are ways to combat fraud.

         19                 I just wouldn't want it to be too

         20  burdensome, where it would then be used as a method

         21  to deny people, you know, ability to come to the

         22  United States to live with their life partner.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You know, I

         25  would like, you know, earlier you spoke and I tried
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          2  to get this clarity, in terms of when you mentioned

          3  long-term relationship or long-term partner, if

          4  there is no real way of telling whether it's really

          5  truly a long-term relationship or it is a true

          6  relationship or have some sort of a legal document

          7  or something to prove that that is the case, I see

          8  us having a problem with this law.

          9                 And until such time when we have a

         10  definition as to what does the long-term

         11  relationship, how it's defined --

         12                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Or until same-sex

         13  marriage is allowed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, it's

         15  allowed in some states. Assuming that eventually it

         16  will happen in every state. But I'm saying, until we

         17  have such a definition that we can tell what it

         18  means when you say long-term partnership, or

         19  long-term relationship, then, you know, I see

         20  problems with this bill. Because right now, the bill

         21  with heterosexual, we have problems already, which

         22  needs clarity. But if we're going to do it in terms

         23  of clarity with heterosexual, we have to have

         24  clearcut definition as to how, what we're calling

         25  long-term relationship or what the partnership is,
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          2  how we define partnership and all of those things,

          3  those definitions have to be clear. So that at least

          4  there is a guide in which we can follow. And if that

          5  is not the case, I think we're going to have some

          6  serious problem with this bill.

          7                 Now, in your --

          8                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I'll certainly bring

          9  your concern back to the Congressman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

         11                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Again, as I said, it

         12  was written that way to be broad. But I will

         13  certainly bring your concerns back.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I think we have

         15  a couple of questions here that we wanted to follow

         16  up on.

         17                 Do you have any idea how many in New

         18  York State that might benefit from this?

         19                 MR. GOTTHEIM: I don't have the

         20  numbers with me. I'd be happy to get those numbers.

         21  I know we do have those numbers, and maybe some of

         22  your other witnesses could speak to that. I do have

         23  that and would be happy to forward to you when I get

         24  back.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We have been
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          2  joined by Council Member Nelson. Do you have any

          3  questions?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: The number was

          5  being discussed, but was that 36,000, 40,000? Was

          6  that the number?

          7                 MR. GOTTHEIM: That could be. Again,

          8  Councilman Nelson, I don't have the numbers. I did

          9  not bring those numbers and I'd be happy to get them

         10  and maybe somebody else here. I'm looking at

         11  somebody else's notes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Somebody

         13  else's testimony I'll bet you has it.

         14                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Yes. What's the number?

         15                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER FROM AUDIENCE:

         16  Five-thousand.

         17                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Five-thousand in New

         18  York State.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you.

         20                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Sure.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I'm going to

         22  read you one of your statements that you have here

         23  and I'm trying to understand why.

         24                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Sure.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: "Under our
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          2  current immigration system, it is not a binational

          3  same-sex couples best interest to marry or formerly

          4  register their relationship here or abroad. As this

          5  action might make it even more difficult for the

          6  foreign national to obtain a visa to this country."

          7  Why?

          8                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Why? Because, you know,

          9  the whole point of attaining visas means that you

         10  want to permanently reside in the United States, and

         11  when you want to permanently reside, a visa means

         12  that you are coming for a period of time and you are

         13  going home. If you marry somebody in another

         14  country, or a US citizen, you don't have the

         15  intention of going back to your other country, so

         16  they will deny your visa based on that. So, that's

         17  the reason why I said it's not in the best interest.

         18  That's the reason I said the Congressman said it is

         19  not in their best interest to do that. Because when

         20  they do that, you will have your visa denied,

         21  because you have no intention, or they believe you

         22  have no intention of returning to your former

         23  country. You are permanently immigrating to the

         24  United States and there's a different process for

         25  that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.

          3                 Has there been any action in

          4  Washington on this bill?

          5                 MR. GOTTHEIM: No, there has not been.

          6  And we don't expect any action. Well, there is 114

          7  co-sponsors now, and as I said, three Republican

          8  members of Congress, we will see, you know, the

          9  Congressman likes to say there is nothing wrong with

         10  Washington, except what a good election can do. So,

         11  November, you know, we might see what will happen

         12  and in a new Congress, depending on who has control,

         13  we might have movement on this -- we would have

         14  movement on this bill.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Council Member

         16  Nelson.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair.

         19                 Just one question. Does this become

         20  incongruous, if you will, with DOMA in any respect,

         21  or possible hurdle in getting this enacted?

         22                 MR. GOTTHEIM: The current climate in

         23  Washington is difficult as it is. We need a change.

         24  So, it's an issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: This might be
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          2  another hurdle.

          3                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Yes. Absolutely.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Probably.

          5  Okay. Til November at least.

          6                 MR. GOTTHEIM: Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. I

          9  want to thank you for your testimony, and we want to

         10  ask you to relay the message to Congressman Nadler,

         11  let him know our fears, and that we would like to

         12  see some sort of definition as to how will benefit

         13  from this.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I would be

         15  happy to take that back and get back to you on the

         16  numbers that you were looking for. I'll be happy to

         17  get it for you.

         18                 I'm sure some of the other speakers

         19  can speak to some of it, too, but I will certainly

         20  get our notes on it, and forward that on to the

         21  Committee, and the other members who wanted it.

         22                 And thank you very much for allowing

         23  me the opportunity to provide your testimony.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You're welcome.

         25                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: The next
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          2  speakers will be a panel. From Immigration Equality

          3  I'd like to call up Rachel Tiven, Adam, and I

          4  believe this says Francois? Sorry. And I believe

          5  that you also have couples with you. Jim deSeve and

          6  Rhonda Davis, and Andrew. Thank you.

          7                 MS. TIVEN: Thank you very much. And

          8  thank you, particularly, to Council Member Stewart

          9  and other members of the Council.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Would you please

         11  identify yourself for the --

         12                 MS. TIVEN: Sure. My name is Rachel

         13  Tiven. I am Executive Director of Immigration

         14  Equality, which is a non-profit organization

         15  headquartered here in New York, that fights for

         16  equal rights for same-sex binational couples.

         17                 I want to begin by addressing some of

         18  the excellent questions that you raised in the

         19  previous testimony. And first I want to begin by

         20  addressing the question of fraud. It's extremely

         21  important in understanding the operation of the

         22  Uniting American Families Act to see that it would

         23  not open up any new avenues for marriage fraud.

         24                 Marriage fraud is a very serious

         25  crime. There have been significant crack-downs
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          2  recently on couples, heterosexual couples who

          3  pretend to be a bonafide couple when they are not,

          4  and what the Uniting American Families Act would

          5  accomplish would be that for same-sex couples who

          6  have committed bonafide relationships, who have been

          7  together for many years, an enormous amount of

          8  couples that we found in the last census are raising

          9  children under the age of 18. These are couples who

         10  call our office every day weeping because they

         11  cannot keep their family together. And what this

         12  bill would do is to enable those people to have only

         13  the same rights that opposite sex couples do to

         14  prove that their relationship is bonafide and that

         15  under the immigration system valuing of couples that

         16  are better bonafide couples, the system privileged

         17  for family unification, the belief that keeping

         18  families together is one of the guiding principles

         19  of the American Immigration System, that this would

         20  enable those couples to have only exactly that same

         21  right. And those couples would be required to go

         22  through the same hurdles in the Green Card

         23  application process that opposite sex married

         24  couples currently go through, and that it involves

         25  in the process of getting the Green Card an
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          2  investigation of whether the relationship is a

          3  bonafide relationship. And it would also submit

          4  same-sex couples to the same two-year waiting

          5  period, when if you've been married for less than

          6  two years, when you're as a straight couple, you get

          7  a conditional Green Card, you have to wait two years

          8  for the conditions to be lifted, it would provide

          9  exactly the same system for same sex couples. So,

         10  that's the question of fraud.

         11                 I also want to identify the reason

         12  that, Council Member Stewart, that you raised the

         13  question about why there was no bright line rule in

         14  the bill, there is no absolute status that you would

         15  have to have a certificate proving that you were a

         16  couple in this bill is because same-sex couples are

         17  denied access to equal marriage rights in 49 states

         18  and because we have no recognition of marriages

         19  performed in Massachusetts or abroad, there is no

         20  way to be sure that there would be equal recognition

         21  and equal access for couples from different parts of

         22  the country. For example, if you're in New York, you

         23  have a Domestic Partner Registry in the City. In

         24  California, there are domestic partner benefits

         25  statewide. In Massachusetts, couples are allowed to
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          2  legally marry. The patchwork that we're seeing is

          3  one of the things that inform the way that the bill

          4  was drafted to make sure that no couple across the

          5  country would have a more or a less access to the

          6  federal immigration equality that they deserve. So,

          7  that's the second issue.

          8                 And the third issue and important

          9  question that you raise about the situation of the

         10  sisters who are waiting a very long time, as you

         11  acknowledge, the waiting time for sibling

         12  sponsorship is extremely long, unconscionably long.

         13  But an opportunity exists for someone to sponsor a

         14  sibling under the immigration law. There is no

         15  opportunity currently for a same-sex couple that has

         16  been in a committed relationship for many years,

         17  there is no opportunity for that couple to be able

         18  to sponsor their partner. There is no opportunity

         19  for same-sex couples currently. So, what we're

         20  trying to do with this bill is to provide absolutely

         21  on par equality for same-sex couples, the same as

         22  opposite-sex couples have.

         23                 We're not trying to expand the

         24  categories in any way. We're merely looking for

         25  access to the kind of privilege in the immigration
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          2  system that a committed opposite sex couple has.

          3                 So, I hope that that starts to answer

          4  some of the questions that you raised, and I brought

          5  by Blackberry, because I wanted to read you an

          6  e-mail that I got yesterday, and you'll hear from

          7  some terrific couples talking about the hardships

          8  that they're suffering. But I got this e-mail

          9  yesterday:

         10                 "Best wishes for your presentation at

         11  this hearing this morning. I eagerly await word of

         12  the Council's reception.

         13                 My partner and I are currently living

         14  in London. He is Spanish foreign and I am a US

         15  citizen. We met in New York while he was in school

         16  and we have been together seven years now.

         17                 In that time that we've been

         18  together, we have had a daughter with a lesbian

         19  couple who are very close friends of ours. We are a

         20  family. My partner and myself, that couple, and our

         21  daughter.

         22                 However, my partner has been unable

         23  to extend his visa in the US and we are now living

         24  in England, thousands of miles away from the people

         25  we love. I left a great job. We lost a hard-won New
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          2  York City apartment, and we blew through our entire

          3  savings making the international move.

          4                 I'm happy to have discovered the more

          5  civilized laws for unmarried couples here in the

          6  United Kingdom, and I am very happy that I have not

          7  been forced to separate from my partner. But we are

          8  missing early years of our daughter's life. I am

          9  heartbroken every time I speak with her on the

         10  phone, and she wants to know when my partner and I

         11  are coming back home. I am very much looking forward

         12  to seeing Uniting American Families Act coming into

         13  law. It can't be too soon for me."

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 So, I'm going to turn it over to some

         16  of the couples who are, representatives of couples

         17  who are with us today and ask them to talk a little

         18  bit about their stories.

         19                 MR. FUGHS: Good morning, Mr.

         20  Chairman, honorable Council members. My name is

         21  Andrew Fughs. I grew up in Brooklyn, in the Midwood

         22  neighborhood, and after being away from New York for

         23  about ten years, I moved back last year. I missed my

         24  friends and my family, and I missed being a New

         25  Yorker. I'm very happy to be back.
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          2                 My partner Raul and I met in

          3  California, in early 2003, when I was going to

          4  school there. And we've managed to live together for

          5  most of the past three and a half years, for a

          6  couple of years in Italy, where I was working at the

          7  time, and now for a time here in New York. And now

          8  entering the fourth full year of our relationship, I

          9  think our lives as a couple are very similar to my

         10  other friends who are at that stages in their

         11  relationships with their partners and their wives

         12  and husbands. I come home from work, we eat dinner.

         13  He watches his soap operas, I watch the Yankee game,

         14  and like 8:30 we pass out and go to sleep. And I'm

         15  not sure how we could document that. But all of our

         16  loved ones know that that's who we are together. I

         17  think we would be very happy to have some sort of

         18  way to demonstrate what our relationship is and what

         19  it means to each other.

         20                 My partner is from Mexico, and he has

         21  a tourist visa, which allows him to come to the US

         22  and stay for periods of time. And so far he's been

         23  able to come in and out of the country without

         24  difficulty, knock on wood. But there is always the

         25  chance that the next time that he leaves the country
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          2  and tries to come back, he won't be able to.

          3                 And aside from all the emotional

          4  concern that that causes us, it also creates very

          5  practical difficulties, in terms of planning our

          6  lives together, and planning our lives, not just

          7  with each other   but with our other family members,

          8  both mine here and his in Mexico, and very difficult

          9  to think sort of beyond the month or a couple months

         10  at a time.

         11                 And we think about whether in the

         12  long-term, maybe moving to Mexico would be a better

         13  option, maybe it would be more possible for me to

         14  establish some sort of residency in Mexico.

         15                 Still, I think we're lucky in many

         16  ways, and much lucky than many other families in

         17  similar situations. Both our families are very

         18  loving and supportive of us. So, he knows he's part

         19  of my family, I know I'm part of his.

         20                 For my job, I work in International

         21  Development, so if I did leave the US, I think I'd

         22  be able to find work. And if we moved to Mexico,

         23  it's not that far. So, in a way I wouldn't be so cut

         24  off from my friends and family here, so long as I

         25  was able to afford coming back and forth once in
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          2  awhile.

          3                 By contrast, many of the other

          4  couples and their families that I've had a chance to

          5  meet aren't in the same situation, and because of

          6  the lack of immigration rights for same-sex partners

          7  under US law, it forces people to choose between

          8  your partner and your career, between staying

          9  together with your partner and leaving your home and

         10  leaving your family.

         11                 Similarly, I know many other

         12  immigrants and immigrant families here in New York

         13  and in the New York area, whom crossing the national

         14  border, means essentially losing the right to be

         15  with your loved ones, permanently or

         16  semi-permanently for a long time.

         17                 And, so, I've seen firsthand that our

         18  basic human rights, particularly as they concern our

         19  relationships with families, are not something that

         20  LGBT people or immigrants can take for granted in

         21  this context during this country.

         22                 The Uniting American Families Act

         23  would mean that fewer families would have to make,

         24  face these painful choices, and while we understand

         25  the City Council itself cannot make these changes to

                                                            37

          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  the US Immigration Law, we hope that you can act to

          3  send a clear and powerful message to the people in

          4  Washington who do set those laws and policies, that

          5  as New Yorkers, we recognize the importance of

          6  family, and this means all families, including

          7  immigrant families, including LGBT families. And

          8  these are often the most vulnerable families, I

          9  think. And that we call on Congress and our leaders

         10  in Washington to do the same.

         11                 Thank you very much for your time and

         12  your support.

         13                 MR. DeSEVE: Hi. My name is Jim

         14  deSeve. I'll just share some personal stories with

         15  you. In 1992, I fell in love with a German man. I

         16  was right out of college, getting out of college. He

         17  was here visiting his friend in Upstate. We met and

         18  we started dating and we fell in love, and we

         19  decided we were going to move to New York City

         20  together. Big dream. Everything was great.

         21                 Big problem was that he was here just

         22  on a tourist visa. So, for the next months, as we

         23  started setting up our household in New York City,

         24  we started realizing the real day-to-day

         25  difficulties of setting up the household.
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          2                 Rudy was unable to work legally, and

          3  it ended up putting incredible strain on our

          4  relationship because I was the only one bringing in

          5  money. We eventually set him up so that he would

          6  have a student visa. He went to acting school. I was

          7  still working to pay for both of us. I found at tax

          8  time that I was unable to deduct him as a dependent,

          9  even though he was, and it cost me an extra $800 a

         10  year every time tax time rolled around.

         11                 Eventually we, it wasn't my wishes,

         12  but, and you talk about fraud, this is possibly the

         13  side of fraud that you're not thinking about, which

         14  is the misuse of legal marriage now in order to

         15  obtain a Green Card. Rudy decided that that was the

         16  best route for him. I didn't think that it was a

         17  good route for us. And he ended up marrying my

         18  brother's girlfriend, of all bizarre things.

         19                 This put incredible strain on my

         20  brother's relationship with his girlfriend. They

         21  eventually broke up because he wanted to marry her,

         22  obviously. And it put a very bizarre strain on our

         23  relationship because Sigred, who didn't have a lot

         24  of money at the time, we said that she could come

         25  and live with us in our very small apartment in
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          2  Brooklyn. Having three people and your brother's ex

          3  living together in one place really posed a

          4  difficult challenge.

          5                 The sad end result of this was that

          6  the strain became too much for our relationship. We

          7  ended up breaking up. My brother's relationship had

          8  broken up. Rudy and I separated. We had been

          9  together trying to pull this together and making it

         10  work for seven years and it just became a pretty

         11  horrible nightmare.

         12                 So, a year after we break up, what do

         13  I do but fall in love with a guy from Indonesia, and

         14  at that time, you know, it was really wonderful. We

         15  went through all the romantic things. He had just

         16  finished his MBA at the University of Hawaii. He had

         17  gotten a scholarship from, he was the one student

         18  from Indonesia that Fugitsi selected that year to

         19  get his MBA in the United States. There is one

         20  student from every country in Southeast Asia that

         21  they choose.

         22                 So, he had finished his MBA and he

         23  was now going to do one year of practical training,

         24  which is allowed, it's the next visa that you can

         25  get. And as we met and as we started dating, I
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          2  started thinking, oh, boy, here I go again. I'm

          3  getting into exactly the same situation. What's

          4  going to happen? That automatically puts you at a

          5  disadvantage when you're starting a relationship

          6  with somebody from another country. And that's

          7  something that, and I have friends who have married

          8  people, straight friends who have married either

          9  their husbands or wives from another country, it's

         10  not something they worry about because they know

         11  there are protections for them there.

         12                 Kian and I fortunately are still

         13  together. It's been eight years now. The biggest

         14  problem that we had. He was, as a Chineseman already

         15  from Indonesia, he was able to win his refugee

         16  status here, which was great, and gave him his work

         17  authorization. What it did not give him was his

         18  Green Card. And with September 11th and the changes

         19  in immigration and the development of Homeland

         20  Security, Kian had his work authorization but he

         21  should have, within I think two years of us being

         22  together, or something like that, been able to get

         23  his Green Card.

         24                 We got a letter from Homeland

         25  Security like four years ago saying that his Green
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          2  Card would be ready in 2011. And we were like whoa,

          3  okay, that's not what we were expecting. The big

          4  problem is that with just a work authorization,

          5  Kian, or anybody else in his situation, is not

          6  allowed to go back to their home country. He still

          7  had a family there. His parents were still there.

          8  His brothers and sisters were there.

          9                 He was forced to choose between

         10  staying with me in the United States, or giving up

         11  his refugee status and going back to Indonesia.

         12                 Now, his father, who was about 80,

         13  and obviously getting older through the years, he

         14  hadn't seen in seven years. We kept getting calls

         15  from home, tried to speak to him on the phone. It

         16  was very difficult. And, finally, I said to him,

         17  Kian, what are you going to do? Are you ever going

         18  to see your father again?

         19                 We tried to figure out a way where

         20  his father might be air-lifted out of Indonesia to

         21  Singapore, to another country, and they could meet

         22  on ground that wasn't his home ground, but that was,

         23  because of his health, not a tenable solution.

         24                 So, sometimes you believe that in the

         25  system there is a little angel that makes things
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          2  happen. Last year at about this time, magically, his

          3  Green Card appeared, which was not anything we

          4  expected. It was years. It was years later already,

          5  but years before we expected it to come.

          6                 And he was able to go and see his

          7  father, spend about three weeks with him. But at

          8  this point his father was unable to speak, he

          9  slipped into a coma at a certain point, and after

         10  Kian returned home, just before Thanksgiving last

         11  year, on Thanksgiving Day we get a call from his

         12  mother saying his father had passed away.

         13                 So, not having something like Uniting

         14  American Families Act, for us, put two times in my

         15  life, for extended periods of time, incredible

         16  pressure on my relationships. Incredible pressure

         17  just to be who I am and to love the person that I

         18  had fallen in love with. And I don't think that's

         19  fair.

         20                 And I understand your concern about

         21  fraud, and it's a valid one. But I think now that

         22  fraud can be committed already, and we would never

         23  think of denying all heterosexual binational couples

         24  the right to be together because of concerns of

         25  fraud. And I don't think we should deny binational
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          2  gay and lesbian couples that right.

          3                 I think fraud needs to be addressed

          4  as its own issue, and I would be really, really

          5  saddened, if because of this one concern, New York

          6  City Council decided not to support this Act.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We have been

          9  joined by Council Member Liu. John Liu.

         10                 MS. DAVIS: Hi. Good morning. My name

         11  is Rhonda Davis, and I just recently got out of the

         12  military. Not by choice. I was discharged, and it's

         13  because of the "Don't Ask: Don't Tell" policy. So,

         14  multiple issues going on here today.

         15                 But in the Navy I served ten years,

         16  and had the best job of the world. I got to do a lot

         17  of traveling. And sort of an unfortunate thing about

         18  the travel is that you meet a lot of people, and,

         19  you know, you fall in love with people overseas. You

         20  tend to do that.

         21                 Now, we all know how the sailors are,

         22  they go into ports and they meet people. Well, for

         23  the heterosexual sailors, they can get married to

         24  these people, and they can bring them back over and

         25  they don't have to worry about how these people are
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          2  going to be able to stay in the states.

          3                 For me, the first four years that I

          4  was in the military, I was in Spain, and met a girl

          5  there and we dated just about the duration of the

          6  time that I was there, about three years. I brought

          7  her back to the states, and for her I got out of the

          8  military because I was really afraid that I'd get

          9  caught, you know, even wanting to get married to

         10  someone. I came back to the states with her and we

         11  tried to get the work visa. And I can relate to his

         12  story there, because we married her off to a man,

         13  and it put a tremendous strain on that relationship.

         14  And the man was in the military. He left, didn't

         15  even sponsor her for the paperwork that he said he

         16  was going to.

         17                 We didn't go into the relationship,

         18  you know, the business deal, feeling right about it.

         19  She and I wanted to be together, not these three

         20  people. But that was the only way we could figure

         21  out how she and I could stay together. And every

         22  time she saw a man in a suit, you know, she'd get a

         23  little uneasy because she thought immigration is

         24  following her around, you know. You know, we didn't

         25  want to have to -- fraud wasn't something we wanted
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          2  to do, to have to resort to, but we wanted to be

          3  together.

          4                 She got married to this man, he took

          5  off. He didn't file the paperwork necessary, and put

          6  just a tremendous strain on our relationship. I had

          7  already gotten out of the military to be with her,

          8  and we were, you know, pretty much living on poverty

          9  and working at McDonalds and that type of thing for

         10  a couple of years and we broke up.

         11                 I came back into the military,

         12  because this is actually what I wanted to do with my

         13  life. I wanted to serve my country. And as a

         14  condition of serving my country, you know, I have to

         15  promise not to engage in any homosexual acts. So,

         16  that's part of the "Don't Ask: Don't Tell" policy.

         17                 I came back in. I wasn't in a

         18  relationship at that time. Got sent to Japan, and,

         19  again, you know, I met a girl there. The first thing

         20  I was thinking about the day I met Jang, and here is

         21  a photo of us to show that we're kind of not really,

         22  you know, a threat to national security or anything,

         23  but the first day I met her, I hadn't intended to

         24  get into a relationship, but, you know, I met her in

         25  a club and we talked and I thought, oh, my God, here
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          2  we go again. I'm going to fall in love with her and

          3  it's going to be the same thing again. And sure

          4  enough, I thought, you know, that there would be

          5  this immigration fairy that would make it all right.

          6  You know, somehow magically we would find a way to

          7  be able to be together.

          8                 For four years, while I was stationed

          9  in Japan we were together, and recently I came back

         10  to the states, came to New York. She followed me

         11  here. She gave up a job that paid well. She gave up

         12  her family. She gave up her friends. And she came

         13  here not knowing what she was going to be able to

         14  do, how she was going to be able to stay here, but

         15  we somehow had that faith that we would work it out.

         16                 Came here, and she wasn't able to get

         17  -- actually, she had been educated in the states.

         18  She did have a degree here. So, getting a student

         19  visa wasn't an option for her. She tried to get a

         20  work visa. These things aren't that easy to get as

         21  people tell us, oh, that's an option for you, but

         22  they really aren't, you know, options.

         23                 She came here and she wasn't able to

         24  find a job, so she returned to her country.

         25                 And just the pain I felt, that, you

                                                            47

          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  know, for four years every single day this person

          3  had been a part of my life, we had shared the bills,

          4  we had shared the home, you know, and all of a

          5  sudden she had to go back to her country, and, you

          6  know, I felt a lot of bitterness and resentment.

          7                 There was a man that I worked with in

          8  the military, he's upper forties, forty-eight years

          9  old, met a girl on-line, a mail order bride from

         10  Russia. He met her on a Monday, on that Thursday she

         11  was here, they were married, and now she's got a

         12  job, and they're all legal, and I guess that just

         13  made me so bitter, that here's a real relationship

         14  of nearly four years, my girlfriend and I, and we

         15  had exhausted all possibilities, and we finally had

         16  to be separated. And here is a person who ordered,

         17  paid for a person on-line, and had her shipped over,

         18  I don't know, UPS or how ever you ship people,

         19  brought her over here, I guess Fed Ex, because she

         20  got here on Thursday, three days or less. You know,

         21  we say that that's fine, and our society says that's

         22  okay, but she and I had to be separated.

         23                 She recently, within the last two

         24  weeks, got an internship visa, so she just recently

         25  returned to the states, and she's working. It's for
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          2  free. But she's doing what she can to be able to

          3  stay here. It's an 18-month work internship visa,

          4  and at that point we don't know where we're going to

          5  go.

          6                 We don't want to go to another

          7  country. This is my home. I don't want to lose my

          8  family. And she has assimilated very well here

          9  because she actually got her -- she got educated

         10  here when she was a child, she studied here. So, you

         11  know, we always have to wonder about, you know,

         12  what's the next step for us? Are we going to have to

         13  pick up, move everything to another country and

         14  start over there when we, you know, we just want to

         15  be together.

         16                 We don't want anything special. We

         17  already share a home together. We share a life. We

         18  share the bills. You know, and like you, I really

         19  related to your story about watching the soaps at

         20  night. We sit down and we watch Lifetime television.

         21  You know, we just want to be able to continue doing

         22  that. And if we have to go to Canada, I'm not sure

         23  if we'll get that on the cable channel there, so...

         24                 I just actually recently got

         25  discharged from the military, because, you know,
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          2  when she left, it was one of those things where I

          3  told her on the phone, I said I will leave the

          4  military and I will come to you. And it was kind of

          5  ironic in a bad way that the very week that I -- the

          6  day that I outted myself, and got kicked out of the

          7  military, I called her up, hey, guess what I did? I

          8  don't have to worry about the military anymore, and

          9  she tells me I got an internship. So, anyway, that's

         10  where we're stuck now so, you know, there's a lot of

         11  people like us. We don't want to resort to marrying

         12  our partners off to somebody else to be able to keep

         13  them here. We want to be able to, you know, I want

         14  this ring to really mean something legally, you

         15  know. So, thank you for your time, I really

         16  appreciate that.

         17                 Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right. You

         19  know, it appears to me that because of the hardship

         20  that you guys face, that fraud seem to be the way

         21  out, the only way out to get where you want to go.

         22  And it's like this whole society is forcing you into

         23  fraud.

         24                 But I want to go back to something

         25  that I asked the previous speaker. Who would fit
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          2  this bill? Who would fit this bill to say, well,

          3  listen -- or what is the criteria we are going to

          4  use to say, well, listen, you are eligible to get

          5  this benefit?

          6                 And anyone can answer. The point I am

          7  getting to here is that I feel for you folks. I feel

          8  for you for the fact that if I had a magic wand, I

          9  will make it happen. I will make it, everyone that

         10  we feel that is in a long-term relationship that is

         11  legitimate should be able to get that. You know, you

         12  should get your wishes. But what is the criteria

         13  we're going to use. Who is there right now? Is there

         14  someone who has been in a relationship two years,

         15  five years? Is there someone who just met someone

         16  last week? Who fits that bill? And that is what

         17  bothers me right now.

         18                 So, if you can answer that. You know,

         19  maybe, I don't know what is bonafide, what is a

         20  bonafide long-term same-sex relationship? I don't

         21  know what it is. How do we define that? And that is

         22  where the, you know, the problem stands with me.

         23                 I would like to support this

         24  resolution, but those doubts in my mind that it's

         25  not going to go anyplace because we don't know who
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          2  it is. I don't know how are we going top define

          3  these things.

          4                 MR. FRANCOLER: My name is Adam

          5  Francoler. I'm the Policy Coordinator and

          6  Immigration Equality and hope to be able to answer

          7  that question for you.

          8                 The only way in which the Uniting

          9  American Families Act differs from the current

         10  system to verify the validity of a marriage, is

         11  actually the marriage certificate.

         12                 We would be very happy if we were

         13  able to obtain marriage certificates to prove the

         14  validity of the marriage. Unfortunately, that's not

         15  the case.

         16                 My colleague Rachel talked about a

         17  patchwork system that's currently, you know, carried

         18  out across different states and different counties

         19  and different cities. It's interesting because the

         20  easiest part of the marriage, of verifying your

         21  relationship for marriage officials, is the marriage

         22  certificate, honestly. You can go to Vegas overnight

         23  and you can get the certificate. You know, you have

         24  a Justice of the Peace certify it and a witness sign

         25  it and there you go, there's your certificate.
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          2                 What really validates a marriage is

          3  the way that the couples interact with each other,

          4  they way that they carry out the marriage

          5  personally, and they do that by seeking to protect

          6  one another. They do that by establishing their

          7  financial interdependence, making it more difficult

          8  for the partnership to dissolve, joint bank

          9  statements, joint leases, things like that, that all

         10  prove, that all signal to the world that they want

         11  to be together, that they want to be a single

         12  entity.

         13                 Those types of contracts we can have,

         14  permanent partners can have. We can have joint

         15  visas. You know, we can establish financial

         16  interdependence. We cannot contract a marriage,

         17  except in Massachusetts. And the difficulty really

         18  with compelling couples to meet say the highest

         19  standard wherever their locality is, is that then it

         20  would create a disparate system. So, somebody in

         21  Kansas would not go through any formal ceremony.

         22  They wouldn't have a domestic partnership registry,

         23  they wouldn't have a civil union registry or they

         24  wouldn't be able to contract a marriage, a

         25  legally-recognized marriage like in Massachusetts.
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          2  That, unfortunately, is a recipe, I mean if we were

          3  to compel them to meet that high a standard, that's

          4  a recipe for disaster. And what it really does is it

          5  moves people away from the places that are trying to

          6  get it right, trying to do this through some sort of

          7  process by establishing marriage rights, civil

          8  partnerships, domestic partnerships, and encourages

          9  people, say, to go to Kansas where there is a lower

         10  requirement in order to take advantage of the

         11  system.

         12                 So, Council Member Stewart, I think

         13  you are right in saying that, you know, it's

         14  difficult to determine because of the lack of a

         15  marriage certificate. We would welcome that change.

         16                 The difficulty currently is, you

         17  know, is not in the marriage certificate or the lack

         18  of a marriage certificate. It's creating a system

         19  whereby gay couples are on parity with their

         20  heterosexual counterparts in this regard.

         21                 Now, they would need to go through

         22  the same verification process which includes an

         23  immigration interview, which includes what's called

         24  an I-864, whether they need to establish for 40

         25  quarters or ten years that the sponsor is
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          2  financially responsible for the sponsoree, tying

          3  them, even if the relationship dissolves, they're

          4  still financially responsible for them for those 40

          5  quarters.

          6                 As my colleague pointed out, there is

          7  what's called a conditional Green Card, so if your

          8  relation -- if you can't prove that your

          9  relationship has been intact for more than two

         10  years, you have a two-year conditional Green Card,

         11  at the end of that two years you have to apply for

         12  the conditions to be removed, and then you obtain

         13  the standard Green Card.

         14                 So, the fraud, you know, fraud is

         15  currently a problem. We, you know, actually if there

         16  are bills currently pending in Congress to buttress

         17  some of the fraud protections, including higher

         18  penalties, and imprisonment, right now it's $250,000

         19  and up to five years imprisonment that couples would

         20  be facing if they committed immigration marriage

         21  fraud, and, you know, and we think that those are

         22  good protections. Unfortunately, just the system,

         23  the patchwork system the way it is is not conducive

         24  to allowing people to prove the highest standard. I

         25  hope that helped answer the question.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Are there any

          3  questions from my colleagues?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: You said

          5  something about I-864. Could you explain that?

          6                 MR. FRANCOLER: I'm sorry. An I864, i,

          7  like international, dash 864, the numerals, is a

          8  form, an immigration form that you have to submit

          9  along with the I-130 marriage petition. And that

         10  states that the sponsor, the person who is intending

         11  to marry the person and extend Green Card status for

         12  citizenship to the sponsoree, will be financially

         13  responsible for the person that they are intending

         14  to sponsor for 40 quarters or ten years.

         15                 If the marriage, or in this case if

         16  the permanent partnership were to resolve, the

         17  sponsor would still be financially responsible for

         18  the sponsoree, regardless of the current state of

         19  that partnership. And that is one of the elements

         20  that protects against fraud currently, and the way

         21  that the permanent partner, the Uniting American

         22  Families Act is drafted is that it brings permanent

         23  partners, the term "permanent partners" on parity in

         24  every way with the term "spouse."

         25                 And Council Member Stewart, to go
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          2  back to an earlier question you had, a permanent

          3  partner would be placed in the immediate relative

          4  category. So, they would be eligible for that fast

          5  track to sponsorship.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MEALY: Thanks.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

          9                 I don't want anyone to feel that this

         10  resolution that we're doing -- I'm prime sponsor,

         11  but I want to at least raise issues that folks will

         12  be asking me. So, when you hear me voice a question

         13  or raise a question, it's because these are

         14  lingering concerns that folks may be asking, all

         15  right?

         16                 Have there been a way in which we can

         17  say, well, listen, to make this easier for us, to

         18  put it in the right context, to say, well, listen,

         19  just like we have criterias that someone is married

         20  other than the certificate, you say, listen, you

         21  have joint bank accounts that make it one of the

         22  criteria, you have maybe two years living together,

         23  affidavit of support showing for one another, or you

         24  can have maybe support letters from folks who can

         25  vouch for you, things like that. If something like
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          2  that were put together as the criterias to say,

          3  well, listen, if you meet these recommendations, if

          4  you meet these criterias, then it will be a true

          5  sign that you are a long-term couple, or what we

          6  call a bonafide long-term couple. And that's what

          7  I'm looking to hear from you guys. Because by just

          8  saying a bonafide does not tell me that it's really

          9  and truly a bonafide. Because people come and people

         10  go, and there's always -- and to avoid the fact that

         11  there's fraud, even though there will always be

         12  fraud, the fact is if we had some sort of a criteria

         13  like that, then we know if someone, we can hold

         14  someone responsible and say, well, listen, you did

         15  say that, you know, you're a couple but you don't

         16  have this, or you don't have that, or you don't have

         17  the others. So, by just saying that you're bonafide

         18  couple does not say much. But if you have these

         19  criteria, then it will be able to go on further.

         20                 MR. FUGHS: Mr. Chairman, I would be

         21  happy to have Dick Cheney come live with us for a

         22  month to prove that we are a bonafide couple. I

         23  would be happy to jump through hoops in order to

         24  have this right.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.
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          2                 MR. FRANCOLER: If we could just

          3  respond to that, because, you know, I do think it

          4  merits a response.

          5                 The requirements of the bill as laid

          6  out, there's a bit of a focus on declaring yourself,

          7  you know, of having a life-long commitment. But, you

          8  know, that's not the only requirement of the bill,

          9  and marriage, you know, the marriage procedures are

         10  in place to prevent against that fraud. Again, it

         11  would just create parity among gay couples in every

         12  other way, except for the marriage certificate. And

         13  then I think if there were some alternative system

         14  for gay couples, for again lesbian couples, to

         15  verify that they were somehow committed to one

         16  another, I think again it would just create a

         17  disparate system for seeking immigration equality,

         18  seeking a parity amongst the couples.

         19                 We, you know, and you may disagree,

         20  but we feel that, you know, that being in an

         21  intimate relationship, declaring yourself in a

         22  life-long committed relationship, however that may

         23  present, being financially inter-dependent, holding

         24  joint leases, having family members testify on your

         25  behalf that you are in a life-long commitment, we
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          2  actually feel that that is what you are speaking

          3  about, that those are other measures to protect

          4  against fraud. You know, we'd certainly be happy to

          5  entertain other suggestions the Council may have;

          6  however, we're very interested in maintaining parity

          7  or bringing gay and lesbian partners up to the

          8  parity level with their heterosexual counterparts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right, I

         10  want to thank you for your testimony. You know, I

         11  really learned a great deal today from what you have

         12  said. You know, we hope at least this bill can be

         13  fine-tuned so that there is no problem as to how and

         14  who can really benefit from this. We don't want it

         15  to be a bill that has been struck down because you

         16  don't know who is going to benefit from it. It's not

         17  a free-for-all, but you want to be able to be in a

         18  position where those people who are legitimate will

         19  be able to get the benefit.

         20                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Our next

         21  speaker will be from the LGBT Community Center,

         22  Terry Boggis.

         23                 MS. BOGGIS: Thank you. My name is

         24  Terry Boggis, and I am the Director of Center Kids,

         25  which is the family program of the Lesbian Gay

                                                            60

          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  Bisexual and Transgender Communities right here in

          3  New York.

          4                 In the 18 years since its founding,

          5  Center Kids has seen well over 3,000 families come

          6  through its doors, seeking services, support, and

          7  social connections for themselves as parents and

          8  couples and for their children.

          9                 Though witnessing this perception has

         10  largely been a joyful experience, it is impossible

         11  to do so without being aware of why this program,

         12  such as Center Kids, is necessary to begin with.

         13                 The constituents of Center Kids come

         14  to the center for many reasons, but across the board

         15  they come because they seek a space in which their

         16  intimate relationships are validated, honored,

         17  respected and celebrated.

         18                 This often doesn't happen out in the

         19  world, where the legal canon renders our families

         20  invisible and illegitimate. And these are the lucky

         21  families. The intact families. The families that

         22  don't have to stare down the barrel of that gun that

         23  tells them they have to choose between separation

         24  and relocation, because only one partner is an

         25  American citizen.
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          2                 This variation on Sophie's Choice is

          3  excruciating for binational couples. No one should

          4  be forced to choose between one's country and one's

          5  closest companion. To require that choice is

          6  barbaric.

          7                 I have received countless calls from

          8  LGBT people seeking information on the legal steps

          9  they can take to legitimize their relationships. The

         10  powers of attorney, the wills, the guardianship

         11  agreements, domestic partnership, second parent

         12  adoption, living wills and so forth, all in an

         13  attempt to prove the sincerity of their commitment

         14  and the depth of their connection when being

         15  scrutinized by their government and its

         16  institutions, institutions like the school system,

         17  the medical system, the welfare system and so many

         18  others.

         19                 Until the federal government makes

         20  fundamental changes in the law, changes that reflect

         21  the reality of true family diversity in the United

         22  States, all these efforts to protect themselves on

         23  the part of LGBT people will only go so far.

         24                 The Uniting American Families Act is

         25  a profoundly powerful, meaningful and affirming
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          2  measure, serving to remove obstacles to family

          3  formation and family longevity, shoring up this deep

          4  and meaningful variation of family relationship.

          5                 We are most grateful to Congressman

          6  Jerrold Nadler and Senator Patrick Leahy for

          7  introducing the Uniting American Families Act, and

          8  we appreciate the effort of New York City Council

          9  Member Stewart, Brewer, Clarke, Fidler, James,

         10  Koppell, Liu, Mark-Viverito and Foster and the other

         11  Council endorsers of Resolution 366 in support of

         12  federal legislation.

         13                 It is especially appropriate for the

         14  governing body of New York City, both a primary

         15  gateway to the United States for so many immigrants,

         16  and the destination of choice for so many LGBT

         17  Americans to endorse this federal legislation.

         18                 On behalf of the thousands of LGBT

         19  families of New York, we support Resolution 366, as

         20  well, and thank you for it.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I have a

         22  question. I like your testimony but I have a

         23  question concerning domestic partner registry. What

         24  states, all states have that?

         25                 MS. BOGGIS: No, by no means all
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          2  states have that. New York, there are many

          3  municipalities that have domestic partner

          4  registries, there are some states that have them, a

          5  couple were mentioned earlier, but it's a mish-mosh

          6  across the country. It's very local, and tend to be

          7  more progressive municipalities that have them, and

          8  what those domestic partner registries provide to

          9  the citizens that take advantage of them will range

         10  tremendously.

         11                 Here in New York it really was

         12  initiated by a necessity during the AIDS epidemic

         13  for the ability for surviving partners to stay in

         14  apartments. That was sort of the germ of the need of

         15  domestic partnerships in New York City. There are

         16  other benefits that accrue to domestic partnership

         17  in Minneapolis that we don't have here. It's very

         18  erratic and idiosyncratic measure of protection for

         19  LGBT couples.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want you to

         21  pardon my ignorance, but why haven't members of

         22  Congress maybe put forward a bill, a law to at least

         23  make sure that this is governed throughout every

         24  state, in terms of, you know, whether it's a

         25  registry, whether it's a union, whatever you want to
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          2  call it, why hasn't it not been done so that we can

          3  have some sort of a universal in every state?

          4                 MS. BOGGIS: I wish I could answer

          5  that question. I mean, I guess I have my opinions on

          6  why. I think there's a certain amount of hostility

          7  to this particular community on the part of the

          8  national government, and I don't think I'm wrong

          9  about that. And I think the process we're making

         10  towards legitimizing and recognizing real family

         11  diversity in the United States is a very painstaking

         12  law process.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Well, even if

         14  there might be one or two folks who might be, I

         15  shouldn't use the term negative, but may not like

         16  the idea, but the fact is if a bill is being

         17  sponsored, we see those who really support and those

         18  who are against, and then you might have a majority

         19  that will have this bill passed, something to make

         20  it universal throughout the state, throughout the

         21  country. And then that could be the basis as to how

         22  we can deal with an issue like this in a much more

         23  humane way.

         24                 Because right now, as I see it, we're

         25  going to have -- I am not too sure that they're
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          2  going to really have a clear-cut way of defining how

          3  we will deal with this.

          4                 MS. BOGGIS: How you determine whether

          5  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Right.

          7                 MS. BOGGIS: Well, I think you're

          8  right. And there are people in the room who will

          9  talk, I expect they're on the list of speakers to

         10  talk about the importance of all standard of

         11  relationships that apply to all, which would be

         12  marriage.

         13                 But without that, I think there is a

         14  reluctance, I think, to people see incremental gain

         15  for recognition of same-sex couples as being a

         16  slippery slope to legitimizing these couples and

         17  families and people that unfortunately a number of

         18  our leadership consider substandard.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: What about other

         20  countries? You know, are they treated the same? Or

         21  do we have any countries that really --

         22                 MS. BOGGIS: Well, most of Western

         23  Europe is more progressive on this issue than we

         24  are. And South Africa and --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: We should take a
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          2  page out of their book then and deal with that.

          3                 MS. BOGGIS: Absolutely.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Is it done in

          5  terms of counties in those countries, or it's done

          6  as a country?

          7                 MS. BOGGIS: As nations.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: As a nation. So,

          9  that's why I asked the first question, why is it

         10  that members of Congress, we haven't done something

         11  that will legitimize what we're trying to do here

         12  and make sure that not some state, not some

         13  counties, not some parish is dealing with it, but

         14  the entire country should be dealing with it on a

         15  universal way.

         16                 MS. BOGGIS: I think it would be

         17  beneficial to everyone, not just to LGBT people, to

         18  have that standard in place. I think it would

         19  simplify the administration of law tremendously. And

         20  it's a shame, in my opinion, literally a shame, that

         21  the United States is so far behind so many

         22  countries, Canada, Australia, South Africa, as I

         23  said, most of western Europe, in this area.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: And do you know

         25  how they arrive at that? It's by granting same sex
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          2  marriage or they have a different method in which

          3  they do this, as far as helping, as far as dealing

          4  with immigration?

          5                 MS. BOGGIS: Well, I'm not familiar

          6  with all countries. It is my understanding that some

          7  of them have same-sex marriage, or the equivalent of

          8  same-sex marriage, and may not call it marriage, but

          9  equivalent benefits for same-sex couples. Some of

         10  them deal with it in other ways, but for many there

         11  is a same-sex marriage in other nations.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Any questions

         13  from my colleagues?

         14                 All right, thank you very much.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: I'd like to

         16  call up Brendan Fay from Lavender and Green

         17  Alliance.

         18                 MR. FAY: Good morning, Chairman

         19  Stewart and your fellow colleagues from the Council.

         20  Thank you for hosting this hearing. Lavender and

         21  Green Alliance is a group in the Irish community --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: First, could you

         23  say who you are, for the record?

         24                 MR. FAY: Sure.

         25                 My name is Brendan Fay. I am here
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          2  this morning representing two organizations,

          3  Lavender and Green Alliance, which is an Irish group

          4  for those in the community who are lesbian, gay,

          5  bisexual and transgender, and also Dignity New York,

          6  which is a group for LGBT Catholics.

          7                 So, I'm also here, you know, as an

          8  immigrant, and like many others, I'm also partner in

          9  a binational same-sex couple. And I, like many

         10  others, I came to New York on a student visa to

         11  study. Like many others, I arrived in New York, the

         12  gateway to America, hundreds of thousands of

         13  immigrants, and some to work, to study, I came to

         14  study, not expecting that other dreams and hopes of

         15  mine, some unrealized, would, in fact, be realized

         16  in the City.

         17                 And I fell in love. I met my current

         18  spouse, Tom, at mass, but immediately of course was

         19  the issue of my status as an immigrant. And unlike

         20  my heterosexual friends in the Irish community who

         21  equally, like myself, met somebody, fell in love,

         22  maybe some in the pub, some in the street, some on

         23  the computer or some in church, not too many -- some

         24  say, you met where? -- And yet, they could go to

         25  City Hall, get married, and yet, Tom and I, we could

                                                            69

          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  not. You know, we are denied that simple right,

          3  human right, civil right, and benefit.

          4                 And however, we did like many other

          5  folks in our situation before, what we did was we

          6  organized our own community wedding. And 400 people

          7  came together. We had the music, we had the cake, we

          8  had rings, and we had a beautifully religious sermon

          9  that meant so much to us. Some of my family come

         10  over from Ireland. My spouse Tom, by the way, who is

         11  a pediatric oncologist at Montefiore, so some of the

         12  foundation kids from his clinic at Montefiore and

         13  friends and colleagues also came, and it was an

         14  extraordinary day.

         15                 But we were certainly, you know, our

         16  relationship was recognized by our friends and

         17  family, and yet, in the eyes of the law, you know,

         18  we were just as much the strangers that walked in

         19  the door, that walked out.

         20                 But then, of course, we got the news,

         21  you know, that the laws had changed in Canada, a

         22  couple of weeks after that ceremony, and the

         23  sequence of events really was we -- by the way, I

         24  had actually acquired, I was one of the lucky ones,

         25  I got a Green Card in the lottery. Oh, wow, was I
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          2  one of the lucky ones. A lottery. That's how I was

          3  able to achieve my status, and I feel so blessed to

          4  have gotten that. I was among the hundreds of Irish,

          5  I actually sent in I think about 100 applications,

          6  that's when they changed that law, please send only

          7  one application per person, because in fact, during

          8  that time so many Irish sent truckloads down to

          9  Washington. And here is the sad thing, I have so

         10  many friends like me who were not among the lucky to

         11  get their visa, their Green Card through that

         12  lottery. So many friends. And that's why I am here

         13  today, because there are so many who would love to

         14  be here, who would love to feel free to be here, to

         15  speak to you and to appeal to you for, you know,

         16  just like legislators of the City. And you know that

         17  New York has always been a haven for so many

         18  immigrants. In fact, this City, you know, we said

         19  was built by immigrant families, from all over,

         20  Asia, Africa, Latin America, Ireland, and yet there

         21  are so many who call themselves New Yorkers who are

         22  not recognized by federal law, who tried their best,

         23  and whom I believe are just as deserving as I of

         24  that Green Card and that recognition of their

         25  relationship. I'm thinking of my friend Tom who like
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          2  me, came and fell in love. He's now taking care of

          3  his spouse who is seriously and critically ill with

          4  AIDS. I'm thinking of my friend, I'll call her

          5  Annie. In fact, as a film maker, now I'm working on

          6  her story, who like many of us also emigrated to the

          7  City, was a great folk musician, but as well as

          8  being Irish and immigrant, she was lesbian, fell in

          9  love, because there was no legal recognition for

         10  binational couples, of course, her visa, she wound

         11  up becoming undocumented, overstayed her visa. So,

         12  in fact, over time she became incredibly fearful of

         13  potential deportation and separation. She became

         14  afraid of being discovered or uncovered, and so

         15  lived this sort of hidden existence, trying to

         16  survive, you know, as best she could in the

         17  community. But eventually, and here's my point, she

         18  got sick. Was afraid to go to the hospital, in case

         19  she would be reported to immigration officials, and

         20  deported. Annie eventually died. It was too late

         21  when they brought her to the hospital, and, in fact,

         22  she was suffering from a very treatable condition.

         23                 But that sort of reality that so many

         24  couples have to live with, never mind the strain on

         25  the relationship itself. There were so many others
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          2  who were in that situation.

          3                 Tom and I, we registered as domestic

          4  partners, and I was so grateful when New York City

          5  passed a domestic partnership bill. Though, I

          6  remember when some of the rights that come with that

          7  domestic partnership are things like we can be

          8  buried together now in City property. Of course, I

          9  say, geese, it would be lovely to have a good life

         10  together before we die, you know? And it's lovely to

         11  know we can be buried together, work and doing the

         12  best so that we can live well together, like any

         13  other family and couple.

         14                 There are really -- I gets lots of

         15  calls, you know, a couple every week from an

         16  immigrant, maybe from Dublin or Belfast or

         17  somewhere, who say to me, help me, my visa is about

         18  to run out, what can I do? I'm living with my New

         19  York spouse, can I register? Will I get anything

         20  from the domestic partner? And what can I do? And

         21  will my Canadian marriage be recognized here?

         22                 I remember after we got married, and

         23  I got the call from the INS to go to the Woodside

         24  office to have my Green Card renewed. I'm just going

         25  to be very honest with you, Tom and I held each
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          2  other that night and said, what if my Green Card is

          3  not renewed? What do we do? And I remember, together

          4  we just held each other and we said I have no idea

          5  what is going to happen. But we said, well, there's

          6  always Toronto and there's always Galloway. But,

          7  yet, we love the City. This is our home. We're New

          8  Yorkers. And I was so happy to -- you know, the City

          9  Council here has even amended the Domestic

         10  Partnership Law to also recognize civil unions and

         11  marriages that are actually, you know, from outside

         12  the jurisdiction of the City.

         13                 So, the City of New York, as far as

         14  it legally can, does everything it can to support,

         15  you know, the legitimacy of the diversity of

         16  families in the City, but especially of those who

         17  are suffering because of current immigration law.

         18  And I simply want to appeal to you, simply out of a

         19  sincere sense of justice and fairness, for which

         20  this City is always renown, and has often been ahead

         21  of the rest of the country in some ways, and is also

         22  the gateway for so many immigrants, fleeing

         23  persecution, not expecting that the dreams of

         24  falling in love and simply being themselves maybe

         25  for the first time in their lives, New York has been
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          2  the place where we can often flourish and become

          3  ourselves and contribute to the society as best we

          4  can.

          5                 And I ask you, for Tom and I, and for

          6  all those other couples, especially who suffer far

          7  more than we do, to support this resolution

          8  wholeheartedly, and let us, of course, do everything

          9  we can. This is but a small step, until the day of

         10  course comes like when all the other countries

         11  around the world, we can also achieve marriage

         12  equality and be legally married.

         13                 You know, I got a call the other day

         14  from a friend of ours in South Africa, who was

         15  telling me about the great conversation in the

         16  country about recognizing the rights of same-sex

         17  couples, and how extraordinary that South Africa and

         18  so many other lands across the world, you know, are

         19  just very much way ahead of this country, but I have

         20  no doubt that New York will maybe lead the rest of

         21  the way, and I appreciate this hearing, the

         22  opportunity to speak, and thank you for, you know,

         23  this resolution, and for your support of this bill.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Any questions

         25  from any of my colleagues?
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          2                 I want to thank you for your

          3  testimony. I think most of these things that you

          4  have alluded to have been spoken about by others, I

          5  agree, New York is one of those places that really

          6  take the lead, and we are going to be taking the

          7  lead and that's the reason why we are doing this

          8  resolution, taking the lead to make sure that these

          9  same-sex couples have equal rights as anybody else,

         10  and equal rights under the law.

         11                 So, I thank you for your testimony,

         12  and we hope to see and do better things in the

         13  future.

         14                 MR. FAY: All right. Thank you so

         15  much.

         16                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: I'd like to

         17  call up the next two speakers as a panel. Tony

         18  Simone, Deputy Director, People for the American

         19  Way, and Catherine Thomas, from Marriage Equality.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: What we would

         21  like you to do is to identify yourself and then get

         22  right into it.

         23                 MS. MARINO-THOMAS: My name is Cathy

         24  Marino-Thomas. I'm the Co-Executive Director for

         25  Marriage Equality New York.
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          2                 Marriage Equality New York is a

          3  grassroots organization fighting for the rights to

          4  marry in this state. We'd like to thank you for the

          5  opportunity to speak this morning, and for your

          6  dedication to see this resolution pass.

          7                 If marriage for lesbian, gay,

          8  bisexual, transgender and queer couples was honored,

          9  there would be no need for this law. There would be

         10  no need for the Uniting American Families Act. It

         11  clearly exemplifies why marriage for our families is

         12  so necessary.

         13                 Although the full marriage rights are

         14  really the only way to protect our families, the

         15  Uniting American Families Act is surely a step in

         16  the right direction.

         17                 We hope every person here recognizes

         18  that, although this resolution is helpful, handing

         19  people their rights one right at a time is not a

         20  fair and equal way to protect families. However, we

         21  are very appreciative of the City Council's support

         22  of this bill and the fight for marriage equality.

         23                 What is a family? A family is myself

         24  and my wife, Shiela, who have been together for 14

         25  years and have a seven-year-old daughter, Jackie.
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          2  It's Lumi Aliton and his husband Ian Au, who almost

          3  had to leave this country for lack of a Green Card,

          4  even though they had a legal marriage license. It is

          5  Gustavo Archilla and Elmer Lokkins, together 61

          6  years, still considered legal strangers, even though

          7  they, too, have a legal license. Michael Sabatino

          8  and Robert Voorheis are together 28 years, even with

          9  their legal Canadian license they were humiliated at

         10  the US Customs Counters when they were denied

         11  reentry into the United States because they refused

         12  to be processed as individuals.

         13                 In sum, families are two individuals

         14  who have made a commitment to each other and share

         15  their lives. Many choose to extend that commitment

         16  and have children. All families should be protected

         17  and encouraged by the law. Laws give people clear

         18  ideas of how they will be treated now and in the

         19  future. It gives people predictability that is

         20  necessary to plan their lives. Laws are meant to

         21  create structure so that people will form stable

         22  units where they contribute to each other and their

         23  children. Without them, families are not stable. The

         24  United American Families Act would contribute to

         25  this order and predictability helping these people
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          2  to form family units.

          3                 Finally, given the fact that LGBTQ

          4  families are excluded from marriage in most of the

          5  US, you, as the City Council of New York must lend

          6  your support and encouragement for this act to be

          7  passed so that could foster unification needed for

          8  these families. It would recognize that same sex

          9  unions are just as much families as "traditional"

         10  marital units. Shouldn't all people be treated

         11  equally?

         12                 I'd just like to make one comment

         13  that's not on our official statement; and that is,

         14  there is a list of criteria in existence that we

         15  could use to identify these families, things like

         16  children and legal recognition of both relationships

         17  second parent adoptions. There is holding oneself

         18  out to the public, coming out to family and friends.

         19  There is commingling of money. There is living

         20  together. There is a state planning document.

         21  There's family testimonies. There are many things

         22  that are already in existence that we could use to

         23  support this type theory.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 MR. SIMONE: Hi. I'm Tony Simone, the
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          2  Deputy Director for People For The American Way at

          3  the Northeast Regional Office. Part of our mission

          4  is to advocate, promote and defend American values,

          5  so-called American values, which are progressive

          6  values. One of them, of course, being civil rights.

          7  And our national office across the nation and also

          8  in the region have fought for immigrant rights,

          9  immigrant reform, and marriage equality.

         10                 Now, I can try not to repeat what

         11  anyone else said, so I'll be brief, but folks like

         12  Immigration Equality and LGBT Center and some of the

         13  other groups should be thanked for leading this

         14  fight, because really this is about human beings.

         15  It's not just about a resolution. And I commend the

         16  City Council for sponsoring this resolution, but I

         17  can't tell you how many couples we've had and we've

         18  heard from some of them today, and many of my

         19  friends, and I was in a similar situation living in

         20  Singapore with my boyfriend at the time, although we

         21  were both American, he was there illegally and they

         22  wouldn't recognize me being there and how afraid I

         23  was while I was there that every three months I had

         24  to leave. Now, the American way should be better

         25  than that. We should strive -- it's a shame that so
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          2  many other nations are ahead of us on this. And

          3  someone mentioned earlier that we should be angrier.

          4  And it's true, we should be angry.

          5                 In addition to that, so many other

          6  nations are ahead of us, and it should be done on a

          7  national level, in addition to the City level, and I

          8  commend Congressman Nadler and Senator Leahy for

          9  introducing this, but it's not going to happen

         10  unless the make-up of the Congress changes, unless

         11  people are speaking out about it, other groups who

         12  may not normally work on this every day join

         13  coalitions to fight for this.

         14                 Someone sent me an e-mail on this,

         15  because we were doing immigration reform. Someone

         16  say, you know, I'm upset that you guys are doing

         17  immigration reform when you guys should be talking

         18  about other things like LGBT rights and marriage

         19  equality, it's all connected. It's not a separate

         20  issue. It's all, you know, folks who fall in love

         21  should be able to join the American family.

         22                 And I'm not really going to go into

         23  my testimony, but I know some of the statistics,

         24  there are over 300,000 couples that are affected by

         25  this in this nation, and a lot of them are my
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          2  friends, and a lot of them are afraid every day that

          3  they're going to get caught or somebody is going to

          4  knock on their door, or they're going to have to

          5  move suddenly. So, it's an emotional issue for me as

          6  well and complex. It's not, you know, a legislation,

          7  it affects so many people's lives. And I think a lot

          8  of people need to be educated further on how it

          9  affects American families. Latino families, Irish

         10  families, so many families you heard from today.

         11                 So, I commend the City Council for

         12  doing this, but so much more needs to be done on

         13  this resolution. I mean, people should be angry in

         14  the streets about this. And we should be better than

         15  this. We should be better than South Africa, we

         16  should be better than other nations, and one of our

         17  missions also to track the radical right, and I'll

         18  end it with that. There are so many forces in this

         19  nation using the faith and Christianity as an excuse

         20  to try to divide these families, true Christians

         21  would support the uniting of these families.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If you can, how

         23  much is this being promoted in other states? Because

         24  this is a bill in Congress, and I think if we really

         25  put it out there, if people see it for what it is,
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          2  the merit of it, I think they will tend to support

          3  this. But if they don't know about it, it would go

          4  as far as we would like it to go. So, I would like

          5  to know if you know about any movements in other

          6  states at least to bring this to the forefront, say,

          7  listen, this is gross discrimination among one

          8  sector for all people and really we should cut it

          9  out; what do you know about that?

         10                 MS. MARINO-THOMAS: I think it is as

         11  popular in other states as marriage equality is

         12  popular in other states.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Is your mic on?

         14                 MS. MARINO-THOMAS: No, I'm sorry.

         15                 I'll throw the statistics that 38

         16  states have individual DOMAs in place to prevent us

         17  from being recognized as families. So, I would have

         18  to say that it's an uphill battle. It's unfortunate

         19  that I would have to report that statistic.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Yes. But I'm

         21  saying now that we have this proposed legislation in

         22  Washington, I'm saying are we doing anything in the

         23  other states, in the other cities, to at least bring

         24  this to the forefront so that the legislatures in

         25  the other places, they know that there are people
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          2  out there that are supporting this, and this is

          3  something that they should look at and not, you

          4  know, be sidetracked.

          5                 MS. MS. MARINO-THOMAS: I have no

          6  personal knowledge.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.

          8                 MR. SIMONE: I can answer that a

          9  little bit. I mean, just like Marriage Equality,

         10  folks at Immigration Equality and so many other

         11  groups are doing this on a nationwide basis. Some of

         12  the sponsors you will see are not just from the

         13  northeast. But just like Marriage Equality, you

         14  know, the road to civil rights sometimes is long,

         15  and there are sometimes setbacks.

         16                 I truly be, I mean People For The

         17  American Way believe if most folks were educated on

         18  this around the country and saw the families that

         19  are separated, most folks would be with us. But

         20  there is an organized campaign around this country

         21  on the radical right to, you know, change the debate

         22  about this. And, you know, with immigration reform

         23  issues very complex, they're trying to frame the

         24  debate of immigrants coming across the border,

         25  taking people's jobs, why are we -- you know, which
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          2  is more complex, not necessarily the specific topic

          3  today, but they are being scared into thinking that

          4  you shouldn't support this because people are going

          5  to come here illegitimately, they don't believe in

          6  our families, and so on.

          7                 So, to answer your question really

          8  quickly, I know I'm rambling a little bit, it is

          9  happening nationwide. There are sponsors from beyond

         10  from the West Coast and East Coast, it's just taking

         11  awhile to educate folks that these families exist

         12  all around the country.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: You know in

         14  recent times, and within the last year there has

         15  been great movement on the immigration reform bill

         16  that has been proposed by the federal government,

         17  and different folks in the federal government, is

         18  there a provision to deal with this issue within the

         19  proposal that we have right now, we're talking about

         20  comprehensive immigration reform? And I'm asking the

         21  question because if we do that comprehensive reform,

         22  immigration reform bill, and this is not included,

         23  that is a step backwards still. So, I'm hoping that

         24  at least when they consider, in the next Congress

         25  when they consider this, that this is taken up at
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          2  the same time, even if it's part of the reform or as

          3  a separate piece?

          4                 MR. SIMONE: Without being too

          5  partisan, with this make-up of the Congress, I

          6  highly doubt they will make it a priority. If a new

          7  Congress comes after the selection, it could be a

          8  priority, maybe. And still there is not a definite

          9  answer to that.

         10                 And immigration reform, right now the

         11  current bill does not address this. You need to do

         12  both. You need to do immigration reform, that unites

         13  families and has a path to citizenship that's fair,

         14  and protecting security at the same time, which you

         15  can do. But you also need this legislation to be

         16  aired publicly in a public hearing on national

         17  television so American families can see these

         18  families on TV and have both. You really need both.

         19  But the current bill doesn't include this.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: All right.

         21                 Are there any questions from my

         22  colleagues? Any questions? All right, so I want to

         23  thank you again for your testimony.

         24                 I'm hoping that at least when the new

         25  Congress take seat, that this portion will be
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          2  included in the comprehensive reform of the

          3  immigration bill.

          4                 MS. MARINO-THOMAS: We do too. Thank

          5  you.

          6                 MR. SIMONE: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Thank you.

          8                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: I'd like to

          9  call up the last panel.  Asimouca Marresia and the

         10  last speaker would be Kathy Casey. Kathy Casey?

         11                 MS. CASEY: I'm not part of the panel.

         12                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: No, I

         13  understand you're not part of the panel, but you

         14  both are being called up at this time to testify.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: If you can

         16  please identify yourself, and then let's get right

         17  into it, please.

         18                 MS. MARRESSIA: My name is Asimoula

         19  Marresia. I'm a New Yorker. I'm representing myself

         20  actually, although I'm very familiar with a lot of

         21  the groups that are up here, and I was born and

         22  raised here in New York by two immigrant parents

         23  that came over from Greece. They came here for a

         24  better life. And I'm involved in a binational

         25  relationship with someone from Spain. I met this
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          2  person while I was at the university. I've been in

          3  the relationship for ten years now, and struggling

          4  with this for ten years.

          5                 I spent five years in Spain, which I

          6  really don't want to live in Spain when I'm a born

          7  national of the United States. I feel discriminated

          8  against because I don't have the same rights as most

          9  American citizens. I've awaited years for the visa,

         10  and you can wait, but sometimes it just doesn't

         11  happen.

         12                 So, I've been forced to find refuge

         13  in another country. I've had to learn another

         14  language. I've had to give up my job. I'm sorry, but

         15  this is the first time --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: Take your time.

         17  Take your time.

         18                 MS. MARRESIA: It's difficult, because

         19  how do you explain to your employer that you have to

         20  leave because you're not accepted, not allowed to

         21  live in your own country where you're born so that

         22  you can live with the person you love?

         23                 She's not able to come here. She has

         24  tried previously to work here but it's been very

         25  difficult. I was going to leave yesterday to go back
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          2  to Madrid. I was living in New York for a year

          3  without her, and this has put a tremendous strain on

          4  our relationship. I have no house, I've given up my

          5  job, I'm unemployed now. I have no car, because

          6  every year you're wondering where are you going to

          7  be? And you try to like piece it together every

          8  year, but I've been in this for ten years. I'm 30

          9  now. How much longer am I going to have to wait for

         10  my rights that I'm not granted?

         11                 My brothers, we're all the same age,

         12  we're triplets. If they were to meet someone from

         13  another country there would be no problem for them

         14  to marry and bring them over here. We're talking

         15  about what requirements there would be to recognize

         16  the fact that you're in a relationship with someone.

         17  Well, I don't know if ten years is not enough. I

         18  would have no problem with them investigating or

         19  coming to my house, talking to anyone, about my

         20  relationship that I've had, a committed, loyal

         21  relationship for ten years.

         22                 I'm outraged, I'm angered, I'm

         23  frustrated, and I'm tired. I'm tired because this is

         24  my life. May parents came here for the American

         25  dream. Why is it that in Spain I can marry, but from
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          2  what I've heard today, it's not in my best interest

          3  right now that I marry, because if she's granted out

          4  of luck a visa through the visa lottery, it would

          5  make no sense for me to be getting married right now

          6  in Spain, because that would be against me right

          7  now.

          8                 So, I'm really tied. Why is it that

          9  people that are not born in this country are able to

         10  come here? Are able to win visa lotteries, marry

         11  their spouses or whoever and bring them here and

         12  pursue their American dream, and live the nice,

         13  comfortable life that I so rightfully deserve being

         14  born here, that my brothers are allowed to pursue,

         15  but I'm not because of my sexual orientation or who

         16  I love? I can't start a family. I have to go back to

         17  Madrid. I will be leaving on Friday. What am I going

         18  to do there? I have to adjust to a new culture. Do I

         19  want to be there? No. But I also can't be another

         20  year in New York and my partner in Spain.

         21                 There are other countries that we can

         22  follow that we can use similar ways that they're

         23  doing it to bring our couples here to the United

         24  States, and follow their path. Obviously the United

         25  States is not a country that is setting social
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          2  issues ahead of anything else like they used to. I

          3  used to be proud to be American. You know, I tell

          4  people all is possible in the United States,

          5  anything is possible, and they look at me and laugh.

          6                 I sit there and I talk to Spaniards

          7  and they're like, yeah, well, my brother married so

          8  and so and now he's in New York - oh, that's nice.

          9  I'm angry, envious, that they can marry whoever they

         10  feel like and bring them here. And I'm forced to

         11  leave.

         12                 My parents asked me, you know, why

         13  are you leaving? Why are you giving up your

         14  wonderful job? I'm a New York City public school

         15  teacher, and I had to give it up. What do I say to

         16  my principal? What do I say to people that I work

         17  with? What do I say to them? I tell them what's

         18  going on but there's nothing that they can do.

         19                 My mother says to me, where are you

         20  going? The United States is the best country in the

         21  world. The best place for opportunities. And I have

         22  to sit there, she's 71 years old, and say to her

         23  mom, you know, they just don't want me here. They

         24  don't want us here.

         25                 She tells my partner, where are you
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          2  going? And my partner has to try to explain to her,

          3  a 71 year old woman who has emigrated to the United

          4  States for a better life, hoping that her children

          5  will have a better life, and say to her, listen,

          6  they just don't want me here. I can't come into the

          7  country. I can't get papers. I can't stay here.

          8                 So, I have to get up and go. Every

          9  year I lose my friends. Every year I lose my nice

         10  job. My work history is horrible. My financial

         11  situation is horrible. Why do I have to suffer this

         12  discrimination? Why do I have to go through this

         13  when I should have the same rights as any other

         14  American citizen?

         15                 I am an American citizen. I was born

         16  here. I pay taxes like anyone else when I'm working.

         17  What is this going to do to me? What is this going

         18  to do to my retirement? What is it going to do to my

         19  future?

         20                 I want my children to be born here. I

         21  want my children to be raised here. I believe in

         22  American values, but like America has just turned

         23  their back on me, and that's how I feel. That's the

         24  reality.

         25                 MS. CASEY: My name is Cathy Casey. I

                                                            92

          1                              COMMITTEE ON IMMIGRATION

          2  can't match the eloquence of the previous speakers,

          3  but I just learned about this hearing and this

          4  resolution yesterday. I was looking through the City

          5  Council website and after I got here I decided that

          6  possibly it would be worthwhile for the Council

          7  members to hear from someone who is a lifelong New

          8  Yorker, and my parents were lifelong New Yorkers, my

          9  grandparents were immigrants. I am not in a

         10  binational relationship and am not someone who has

         11  devoted a lot of my life to working for lesbian and

         12  gay rights, but I would just like to say a couple of

         13  things to perhaps give some perspective on this.

         14                 Quite a few people, a large certain

         15  percentage of men in the United States and in New

         16  York City are gay men, and a certain percentage of

         17  the women in the United States and in New York City

         18  are lesbians, and without worrying about exactly

         19  what that percentage is for each one of those

         20  people, generally there are two people who are the

         21  parents of a gay man or a lesbian, and probably on

         22  average there are a couple of people who are sisters

         23  and brothers of a gay man or a lesbian, and there

         24  are people who are grandparents and aunts and uncles

         25  and cousins and I think that at this point in time
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          2  we can be happy to say that the majority of those

          3  parents and sisters and brothers and aunts and

          4  uncles and grandparents and cousins and nephews and

          5  nieces love their family members who are gay and

          6  lesbian and I'm going to ask people to think about

          7  this in a different way for a moment.

          8                 Suppose we were talking about people

          9  in the United States in New York City who have

         10  chocolate ice cream as their favorite flavor, and

         11  all those people have all these relatives and that

         12  makes up a large segment of the population, I think

         13  we need to think in terms of all those people when

         14  looking at a legislative measure like this. I could

         15  tell various stories about people who I know who are

         16  in binational relationships, or signs I've seen at

         17  the lesbian and gay center on 13th Street where

         18  people are advertising "I'm a gay man from Poland

         19  and I want to marry a lesbian so I can stay here

         20  with my partner." But I think I'll just say one

         21  thing, and that is, besides all the couples who are

         22  living in this country and either hiding or engaging

         23  in fraud or just worrying from day-to-day about

         24  being able to continue their relationship, there are

         25  a whole lot of other US citizens who have left the
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          2  country and who are living in other countries, and

          3  one example I know of is a very nice woman who is a

          4  friend of my sister who lives now in a small town in

          5  New York State. She just doesn't live in New York

          6  City anymore. And this woman is a pillar of her

          7  church, and so is her husband. It's a Reformed

          8  Church, which I understand is a Calvinist Church,

          9  but this woman has a son who was in a binational

         10  relationship and for many years now her son has been

         11  living in Germany with his partner because it's

         12  impossible for them to live here in the United

         13  States.

         14                 So, this woman hardly ever gets to

         15  see him. She has a daughter also who lives in this

         16  country and has a couple of children but she never

         17  gets to spend time, maybe every ten years or

         18  something, with her son who she equally loves. And

         19  there are people like this all over, and maybe they

         20  don't come to these hearings, and maybe they don't

         21  know about these hearings, but I think we need to

         22  think about a large, very large number of people in

         23  this country and in New York State and in New York

         24  City who are affected by this issue. It's not a tiny

         25  group of people. And all that's being asked here is
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          2  that people in this situation would have the same

          3  rights that heterosexual people who are allowed by

          4  federal law to get married would have. They're still

          5  not going to have a marriage license, but in this

          6  large area of uniting families through immigration,

          7  it would put them pretty much on the same level. And

          8  I think we all know, as has been stated by the other

          9  people earlier this morning, that there are many

         10  ways to prove whether people have been in a

         11  committed relationship for some time, and there is

         12  the conditional Green Card. So, I think I could

         13  point out to you some people who are living in the

         14  apartment building where I live who are heterosexual

         15  people who got married purely for immigration

         16  reasons and money changed hands and they now have

         17  four children in a one-bedroom apartment because

         18  they were so busy proving that they were really

         19  married. But I don't think fraud is the issue here.

         20  I don't think there is going to be more fraud with

         21  people who are not heterosexual. I think in fact

         22  there will be less fraud because people wouldn't

         23  have to put up those signs at the lesbian and gay

         24  center asking for somebody to marry them so they

         25  could stay here with their partner.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART: I want to thank

          4  you. I have one last comment.

          5                 Basically I think we have more than

          6  enough criterias that have set aside already to

          7  prove someone is in a long-term, what we call

          8  bonafide same-sex relationship. I think we have more

          9  than enough ways we can do that. We just need to

         10  establish that and at least if that is a criteria

         11  that we have to use, we use that. But we have to

         12  start some place to prevent discrimination. We have

         13  to start some place to have those folks who have

         14  been left out in the cold for so long who are being

         15  discriminated against for so long. And if it means

         16  we, in New York City, if it means for us to make a

         17  difference, we have to support this resolution, so

         18  be it. We will have to do that to make sure that at

         19  least the federal government knows that we are

         20  thinking about it, and at least they should look at

         21  us, see what we're doing, look at the other

         22  countries, see what they're doing, and it's about

         23  time something being done about the issue.

         24                 Having said that, I want to thank you

         25  for your testimony. I want to thank you for being
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          2  that strong. The young lady who were very emotional,

          3  I feel your sense of frustration, and I hope that

          4  something is being done, and done in a short period

          5  of time, so that at least it can make a difference

          6  to you.

          7                 Once again, I want to thank you, and

          8  this hearing is closed.

          9                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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